UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff, CIVIL ACTION
V. NO. 1:04-CV-3294-CAP

NATIONAL UROLOGICAL GROUP,
INC. d/b/a WARNER LABORATORIES
et al.,

Defendants.
ORDER

This matter is before the court on the following motions: (1)
the defendants” motion for summary judgment [Doc. No. 168]; (2)
defendant Hi-Tech Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s (“Hi-Tech”) motion for
summary judgment [Doc. No. 170]; (3) the plaintiff’s motion for
summary judgment [Doc. No. 172]; and (4) the defendants” motion to

strike the declaration of Jennifer A. Thomas [Doc. No. 214].

1. Case Overview

A. The Plaintiff

The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) is an independent agency

of the United States Government created by statute. 15 U.S.C.

88 41-58. The FTC is tasked with enforcement of the Federal Trade
Commission Act (Blok ProDIAdiIts unfair or
or practices in or affecting commerce. 15 U.S.C.

C Act also prohibits false advertisements for food,



drugs, devices, services, or cosmetics In or affecting commerce.
15 U.S.C. § 52.

To aid i1ts enforcement of the FTC Act, the FTC has promulgated
regulations that require advertisements: (1) to be truthful and not
misleading, and (2) to be supported by adequate substantiation for
product claims prior to dissemination. The FTC refers to a
violation of the former as a “falsity claim,” while a violation of
the latter requirement is a “lack of reasonable basis (“LORB™)
claim.”

B. The Defendants

Defendants National Urological Group (*“NUG”), National
Institute for Clinical Weight Loss (“NICWL™)* and Hi-Tech
(collectively, the “corporate defendants’™) are corporations that
are or were marketing, distributing and selling weight loss and/or
erectile performance dietary supplements under the brand names
Thermalean, Lipodrene, and/or Spontane-ES. Defendants Jared Wheat
and Thomasz Holda are or were officers and shareholders of NUG and
Hi-Tech, and were officers and shareholders of NICWL prior to its
dissolution. Defendant Stephen Smith i1s or was an officer and
shareholder of NUG, and was an officer and shareholder of NICWL

before 1ts dissolution. Defendant Terrill Mark Wright, M.D., is a

1 NICWL dissolved in 2004.
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The FTC and the FDA work together under an agreement



regulates the FDA defendants” behavior along three pertinent veins.
First, before the FDA defendants can sell a dietary supplement that
iIs not considered a drug, the Consent Decree requires them to
retain an independent expert to inspect their product labeling,
including their promotional materials and internet web sites, and
certify to the FDA that the FDA defendants are not making drug
claims for their products. In addition to the independent expert’s
report, the FDA defendants must submit to the FDA a written report
that details, among other things, the actions they have taken to
comply with the FDA Consent Decree. After this, the FDA defendants
must await the FDA"s approval to resume or iInitiate operations.
After resuming sales, the FDA defendants are prohibited from
“directly or indirectly introduc[ing] or deliver[ing] for
introduction into interstate commerce, or directly or indirectly
caus[ing] the introduction or delivery for introduction into
interstate commerce of, any misbranded or unapproved new drug.”
Consent Decree, Y 4(A) [Doc. No. 168, Ex. 1]. Finally, the Consent
Decree permits FDA representatives to make unannounced inspections
of the FDA defendants” facilities, during which the FDA i1s allowed
to iInvestigate, among other things, all equipment, finished and
unfinished drugs and dietary supplements, and all labeling,
including promotional materials and internet site information. |IFf

the FDA determines that the FDA defendants are not in compliance
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with the Consent Decree, the FDA may take any other reasonable
measures to monitor and ensure the FDA defendants” continuing
compliance.

On November 10, 2004, months after the defendants entered into
the Consent Decree, the FTC filed the iInstant suit pursuant to
Section 13(b) of the Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 53(b),?® to secure injunctive
and other equitable relief against the defendants. In its
complaint, the FTC asserts that the defendants have violated
Section 5 of the Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)*, and Section 12 of the
Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 52.°> Specifically, the FTC claims that the
defendants have made deceptive representations to the public in
their advertisements for the dietary supplements Thermalean,
Lipodrene, and Spontane-ES. The FTC has petitioned this court for
injunctive relief as well as relief in the form of consumer redress
and disgorgement of profits.

On August 24, 2007, the defendants, defendant Hi-Tech,

individually, and the FTC filed cross motions for summary judgment

3 Section 13(b) enables the FTC to seek equitable relief
from the district court.

4 Section 5 prohibits wunfair or deceptive acts or
practices.
s Section 12 prohibits false advertisements for food,

drugs, devices, services, or cosmetics affecting commerce.
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defendants filed a motion to strike the affidavit of Jennifer
Thomas [Doc. No. 214].

Il1. The Defendants’ Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Jennifer
Thomas [Doc. No. 214]

Before considering the parties” motions for summary judgment,
the court will address the defendants” motion to strike the
declaration of Jennifer A. Thomas [Doc. No. 214]. Thomas 1s
Director of the Division of Enforcement in the Center for Food

Safety and Applied



2008) (noting that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(f) permits
the court to strike a pleading, not an affidavit attached to a
motion for summary judgment). As this court stated in Lentz, “the
proper method to challenge such an affidavit is to challenge the
admissibility of the evidence contained iIn the affidavit.” 1Id.;

see also Pinkerton & Laws Co. v. Roadway Express, Inc., 650 F.

Supp. 1138, 1141 (N.D. Ga. 1986) (concluding that a party should
file a notice of objection rather than a motion to strike to
challenge the admissibility of evidence iIn an affidavit).

Because a motion to strike is a procedurally improper vehicle
for challenging Thomas’s affidavit, the court must deny the
defendants® motion. However, the court “may only consider
admissible evidence when deciding a motion for summary judgment,”
and the defendants” motion raises iImportant questions regarding the
admissibility of the Thomas affidavit. Id. Accordingly, the
court, “in the interest of efficiency,” will “proceed to assess the

admissibility of the challenged affidavit.” Spratlin Outdoor

Media, Inc. v. City of Douglasville, No. 1:04-cv-3444-JEC, 2006

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20797, at *13 (N.D. Ga. Mar. 27, 2006).

B. The Thomas Declaration is Ilnadmissible.

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(a)(1) requires parties to
provide initial disclosures including “the name and, 1If known, the

address and telephone number of each individual likely to have
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discoverable information . . . that the disclosing party may use to
support its claims or defenses, unless the use would be solely for
impeachment.” By rule, the obligation to disclose pertinent
parties 1is continuing, so that a party must supplement its
disclosures or discovery responses “in a timely manner if the party
learns that in some material respect the disclosure or response is
incomplete or 1incorrect, and if the additional or corrective
information has not otherwise been made known to the other parties
during the discovery process or in writing.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
26(e)(1)(A). IT a party does not “provide information or identify
a witness as required by Rule 26(a) or (e), the party is not
allowed to use that information or witness to supply evidence on a
motion, at a hearing, or at trial, unless the failure was
substantially justified or is harmless.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1).

It 1s undisputed that the FTC neither initially disclosed
Thomas as a potential witness nor listed her as a witness iIn
response to pertinent interrogatories. Although the FTC
supplemented its initial disclosures in February 2006 to note that
an “as yet unknown” FDA representative may have information
relevant to the case, the FTC did not further supplement its
disclosures in April 2006 when it identified Thomas as the FDA
representative that it intended to use as a witness. FTC’s First

Am. Initial Disclosures, T 3(N) [Doc. No. 118]. In fact, the FTC
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did not notify the defendants of Thomas or indicate in any other
way that it had i1dentified a FDA witness until it filed her
declaration at the end of 2007.

The FTC does not offer justification for its substantial delay
in disclosing Thomas as a witness, but instead simply contends that
her declaration should be admitted because the defendants were
neither surprised nor prejudiced by i1ts failure to disclose her as
a witness at an earlier date. Essentially, the FTC contends that
its disclosure in February 2006 that it was looking for a witness
was enough to put the defendants on notice of Thomas’s potential
role In this case. Moreover, the FTC contends that i1t was not
required to disclose Thomas because she was a “witness used solely
for impeachment,” and thus was not subject to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 26. Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(1).-

The FTC’s arguments are unconvincing. First, the fact that
the FTC notified the defendants that they were looking for a
witness In 2006, without more, does not mean that the defendants
were not surprised when such a witness suddenly appeared on the
record a year and a half later. Moreover, the court is convinced
that the FTC’s failure to disclose Thomas’s identity was
prejudicial to the defendants. Thomas’s declaration addresses the
meaning and effect of the Consent Decree, a topic of critical

importance to the defendants” summary judgment briefs. The FTC’s
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failure to disclose Thomas as a potential witness prevented the
defendants from deposing her or anticipating her testimony before
expending the significant resources required to Tile their
dispositive motions. Such a failure can hardly be considered
harmless.

Similarly, this court cannot conclude that the FTC presented
Thomas®s declaration “solely for i1mpeachment.” Impeachment
evidence i1s evidence that is “offered to discredit a witness .

to reduce the effectiveness of her testimony by bringing forth

-10-



defendants” key summary judgment contentions. In their motion for
summary judgment, the defendants have argued that the FTC’s action
iIs not In the public iInterest because all of the relief the FTC

seeks has
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The court concludes that Thomas”s declaration was not offered
solely for impeachment, and thus holds that the FTC was not exempt
from disclosing her as required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
26. The FTC has offered no justification for its year and a half
delay i1n disclosing Thomas to the defendants, and the court

concludes that this delay was harmful and inexcusable.

6 Hi-Tech also joined in the defendants” collective motion

for summary judgment, but filed an individual motion to address a
liability defense not shared by its co-defendants.
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er of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The moving party bears
itial burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of

al fact. See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323

This may be accomplished by showing that the nonmoving
will be unable to “establish the existence of an element
ial to [the nonmoving] party’s case, and on which [the

ing] party will bear the burden of proof at trial.” 1d. at

nce the moving party has met i1ts burden, the burden shifts to

nmoving party to “designate specific facts showing that there

loenuine issue for trial.” 1d. at 324 (internal quotation

omitted). There is a genuine issue if the combined body of

ppce, viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
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10A Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, Federal

Practice and Procedure 8§ 2720, at 335-36 (3d ed. 1998) (footnote

omitted).

B. Hi-Tech’s Motion for Summary Judgment [Doc. No. 1701

Hi-Tech premises 1ts motion for summary judgment on one simple
contention: it claims that it did not manufacture, advertise, or
market the Lipodrene product at issue In this case and, thus, 1is
not liable on the FTC’s allegations. Although Hi-Tech admits that
it has produced and marketed multiple products under the name
Lipodrene, it claims that these products are “completely different
in look and formulation” from the Lipodrene that its co-defendant,
NUG, marketed iIn the advertisements targeted in this action. Hi-
Tech’s Resp. to FTC’s Statement of Additional Facts, 9 9 [Doc. No.
202, Ex. 1]. Hi-Tech contends that it did not participate in or
fund the advertisements for the old Lipodrene or any other product,
and thus, cannot be held liable for them.

The FTC argues that Hi-Tech 1i1s not entitled to summary
judgment because Hi-Tech participated in all of the advertising at
issue In this case, particularly the Lipodrene advertisements.
Specifically, the FTC contends that Hi-Tech, NUG, and NICWL acted
as a common enterprise. Accordingly, the FTC contends that Hi-Tech
should be jointly and severally liable with iIts corporate co-

defendants for all of the advertising at issue in this case.
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1. Legal Standard for Finding a Common Enterprise

“The general rule iIs that, absent highly unusual
circumstances, the corporate entity will not be disregarded.”

Collier & Son Corp. v. FTC, 427 F.2d 261, 266 (6th Cir. 1970).

However, “where the public interest is involved, as 1t i1s in the
enforcement of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, a
strict adherence to common law principles is not required .

where strict adherence would enable the corporate device to be used
to circumvent the policy of the statute.” 1d. at 267 (making this
statement in the context of determining whether a parent should be
held liable for the acts of i1ts subsidiary). Thus, In situations
where corporations are so entwined that a judgment absolving one of
them of liability would provide the other defendants with “a clear

mechanism for avoiding the terms of the order,” courts have been

willing to find the existence of a common enterprise. See Delaware

Watch Co. v. FTC, 332 F.2d 745, 746-47 (2d Cir. 1964) (affirming a

FTC order holding a company liable because i1t was part of a “maze
of interrelated companies” through which “the same individuals were
transacting an integrated business”). When corporations act as a
common enterprise, each may be held liable for the deceptive acts

and practices of the other. CFTC v. Wall Street Underground, Inc.,

281 F. Supp. 2d 1260, 1271 (D. Kan. 2003)(citing Sunshine Art

Studios, Inc. v. FTC, 481 F.2d 1171, 1175 (1st Cir. 1973)).
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When determining whether a common enterprise exists, ‘“the
pattern and frame-work of the whole enterprise must be taken into

consideration.” Delaware Watch Co., 332 F.2d at 746 (citations

omitted). Some of the factors that courts evaluate to determine
whether a common enterprise exists include common control; the
sharing of office space and officers; whether business 1is
transacted through a maze of i1nterrelated companies; the
commingling of corporate funds and failure to maintain separation
of companies; unified advertising; and evidence that reveals that
no real distinction exists between the corporate defendants. FTC
v. Wolf, No. 94-8119-CIV-FERGUSON, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1760, at
*22-23 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 30, 1996)(citations omitted).

2. Application of Legal Standard to Facts

In this case, it is clear that all three companies at issue
operated as a common enterprise. First, all three companies were
under the common control of Wheat and Holda, and were at least
influenced by Smith. Wheat served as the president and primary
decision maker of all three companies. He developed all of the
products at issue in this case, owned all of their trademarks,
developed all of their advertising (or at least provided the
information for all of the advertisements), wrote checks for all

three companies, made deposits and withdrawals on behalf of all
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three companies, and had the authority to enter into contracts and
terminate contracts for all three companies.

Holda likewise served as an officer of all three companies.
In that role, he participated in business decisions. Holda also
ran the shipping operations for each of the companies and testified
that he reviewed the advertisements for errors before they were
disseminated.

Smith served as an officer of NICWL and NUG, and served as an
independent contractor for Hi-Tech beginning in 2003. In all three
companies, Smith served as the employee/independent contractor
manager. Smith, like Holda, testified that he reviewed all of the
advertisements for errors.

Wheat, Holda, and Smith ran the three companies out of the
same office space iIn an iIntegrated Tfashion. For 1instance,
Hi-Tech - the only company with 1ts name on the door - assumed the
duty of leasing the office space, often served as the addressee and
mail distributor for the other companies, and ordered goods on
behalf of the other companies so that all of the companies could
save money.’ Similarly, NICWL served as the payroll manager for

itself, NUG, and other affiliated, non-party companies. All three

! Purportedly, Wheat reimbursed each company Tfor the
expenditures that it made on behalf of the other companies.
However, i1t does not appear that the companies were compensated for
the services that they performed on the other companies” behalf.
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companies shared in the allocation of a number of iIndirect costs
and expense items, including bank charges, credit card fees,
depreciation, and - most importantly - consulting fees for the
Thermalean and Lipodrene products. Significantly, the defendants”
own expert 1identified NUG, NICWL, and Hi-Tech as among *“five
companies [that] have overlapping ownership and [which] incur costs
and expenses iIn relation to [Thermalean, Lipodrene, and Spontane-
ES].” Abernathy Expert Report, attached as Ex. 2 to Knight Decl.
[Doc. No. 172, Ex. 7].

In addition, the companies worked together to develop and
advertise their products. For example, in a related trademark
infringement action, Hi-Tech alleges that it worked for years with
now-dissolved United Metabolic Research Center, Inc. (“UMRC™),
which it ultimately equates with NUG, to develop the original

Lipodrene product.® Trademark Compl., 9 14-17, attached as Ex. 1

8 Although Hi-Tech does not directly state that NUG and
UMRC are the same entity, it essentially concedes this point over
the course of i1ts briefing. As noted above, Hi-Tech alleges iIn a
related trademark infringement case that i1t and its self-described
“sister company,” UMRC, spent years developing the original
Lipodrene product. Trademark Compl., 91 14-17, attached as Ex. 1
to Knight Decl. [Doc. No. 195, Ex. 30]. Hi-Tech then states, iIn
that complaint, that UMRC marketed the original Lipodrene through
mail order until the product was reformulated. 1Id. at | 17.

Confusingly, in i1ts brief in support of its motion for summary
judgment [Doc. No. 170, Ex. 1, p. 11] and 1its corresponding
statement of facts [Doc. No. 171, Y 25], Hi-Tech unambiguously
asserts that Warner Laboratories, a division of NUG, marketed the
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contend that they are entitled to summary judgment because the FTC
is not eligible for injunctive relief under Section 13(b) of the
FTC Act. Because the defendants have requested that the court
consider their arguments regarding injunctive relief in the FTC’s
motion for summary judgment, the court will defer a discussion on
these arguments until it addresses that motion. Accordingly, the
court need only address the defendants” constitutional arguments at
this juncture.

The defendants dedicate a large portion of their briefing to
an argument that the FTC’s standards in applying the FTC Act are

unconstitutional. Using a test articulated in Central Hudson Gas

& Electric Corporation v. Public Service Commission, 447 U.S. 557

(1980), the defendants argue that many of the standards that the
FTC uses to determine whether advertising is deceptive violate the
First Amendment. In addition, the defendants contend that the
standards that the FTC uses to review advertisements for violations
of the FTC Act are unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. The
court will address these arguments separately below.

1. The Defendants’ Central Hudson Arguments

In Central Hudson, 447 U.S. 557 (1980), the Supreme Court

articulated a four-part analysis for reviewing whether a regulation
governing commercial speech violates the First Amendment. The

court stated,
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At the outset, we must determine whether the
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articulated in Central Hudson was promulgated to assist courts in

determining whether a regulation that limits protected commercial
speech i1s constitutional. Here, the defendants do not attack any
particular regulation restricting speech; instead, the defendants
attack the guidelines the FTC uses to determine whether speech 1is

protected. See Bristol-Myers Co. v. FTC, 738 F.2d 554, 562 (2d

Cir. 1984) (““[D]eceptive advertising enjoys no constitutional
protection.”). Thus, the defendants employ circular logic: they

contend that the court must use the Central Hudson test - which

only applies to protected speech - to determine whether or not
speech is protected.

The court 1is unpersuaded by this confusing and 1illogical
argument. Whether or not the advertisements are deceptive, and
thus unprotected speech, 1i1s a matter that 1is iIn the sound

discretion of the court. Kraft, Inc. v. FTC, 970 F.2d 311, 316

(7th Cir. 1992) (citing FTC v. Colgate-Palmolive Co., 380 U.S. 374,

385 (1965)) (‘[ T]he words “deceptive advertising’ set forth a legal
standard that derives its Tfinal meaning from judicial

construction.”). Accordingly, the court finds that Central Hudson

does not apply in this situation.

2. The Defendants’ Vagueness and Overbreadth Challenges

In addition to the Central Hudson concerns presented above,

the defendants allege that the FTC’s standards regulating
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scientific study, does not provide any single fixed formula for the
number or type of scientific studies required to substantiate a
claim, and does not specify the proper mechanism for extrapolating
results of a study.

The defendants” arguments are not persuasive. As the
defendants point out, “A statute can be impermissibly vague for
either of two independent reasons. First, 1T 1t fails to provide
people of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to
understand what conduct it prohibits. Second, i1f it authorizes or
even encourages arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.” Hill v.
Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 732 (2000). Here, the defendants have not
demonstrated that the FTC’s standard fails for either of these
reasons. “Competent and reliable scientific evidence” has been
defined in various contexts, including in guidelines promulgated by
the FTC, as ““tests, analyses, research, studies, or other evidence
based on the expertise of professionals In the relevant area, that
have been conducted and evaluated in an objective manner by persons
qualified to do so, using procedures generally accepted in the
profession to yield accurate and reliable results.” Bureau of

Consumer Protection, Federal Trade Commission, Dietary Supplements,

An Advertising Guide for the Industry (2001), p. 9, attached as Ex.

H to Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J. [Doc. No. 168]. The court can find

no reason why this definition would not give people of ordinary
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FTC has articulated a definite standard; accordingly, the issues of
fact that it generates do not render it unconstitutionally vague.

The defendants have failed to demonstrate that the FTC’s
standards at issue In this case are unconstitutional and, thus, are
not entitled to summary judgment on this issue.

D. The FTC’s Motion for Summary Judgment [Doc. No. 172]

In the FTC”’s motion for summary judgment, the FTC argues that
it is entitled to summary judgment on all of its claims because the
defendants” advertisements violate the FTC Act. The defendants
respond to the FTC’s motion by Tfirst asserting that the FTC 1is
legally precluded from litigating its claims by the doctrines of
res judicata and collateral estoppel. The defendants then argue
the merits of the case, contending that the FTC does not have
sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the advertising was false
and misleading and that most of the challenged advertising was non-
actionable puffery. The court will first address the defendants’
affirmative defenses before turning to the merits of the case.

1. The Defendants’ Affirmative Defenses

The defendants allege that the doctrines of res judicata and
collateral estoppel preclude the FTC’s claims. Specifically, they
argue that the Consent Decree that the defendants entered into with
the FDA resolved the claims and issues presented iIn the current

action.
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preclusion defenses must be asserted in a timely manner. Arizona

v. California, 530 U.S. 392, 410 (U.S. 2000).

In this case, the defendants base their preclusion defenses on
a Consent Decree that they entered into with the FDA on September
22, 2003. Although the Consent Decree had been in place for almost
sixteen months, the defendants did not assert res judicata or
collateral estoppel when they filed their answers on January 18,
2005.** In fact, it was not until the defendants filed their
response to the FTC’s motion for summary judgment on November 5,
2007 - over four years after the Consent Decree was signed - that
the defendants raised these preclusion defenses.

The court finds the defendants” delay in asserting these
defenses inexcusable. The preclusion defenses that the defendants
now attempt to assert have been available to them throughout the
three plus years that this case has been pending. The defendants
cannot assert them at this late point simply because the “light

finally dawned” that they might be available. Arizona V.

California, 530 U.S. at 410 (“We disapprove of the notion that a

party may wake up because a “light finally dawned,” years after the

1 The defendants did attempt to reserve the right to assert
additional defenses that became apparent during discovery; however,
the court struck this “reservation of rights” defense iIn i1ts June
24, 2005, order and noted that “absent permission of the court, the
defendants are required to assert every defense in their answer.”
[Doc. No. 75, pp. 34-35].
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first opportunity to raise a defense, and effectively raise i1t so
long as the party was (though no fault of anyone else) in the dark
until its late awakening.””). Accordingly, this court concludes
that the defendants have waived their right to assert these
defenses.

2. Analysis of the Defendants’ Advertisements for False and
Misleading Claims

As noted above, the FTC has asserted that the defendants
violated Sections 5 and 12 the FTC Act by (1) making false claims
regarding Thermalean, Lipodrene, and Spontane-ES; (2) making
unsubstantiated claims regarding Thermalean, Lipodrene and
Spontane-ES; and (3) making false claims regarding research and
medical fTacilities. The FTC has also alleged that Dr. Wright
violated the FTC Act by making false and unsubstantiated claims in
his role as an expert endorser for Thermalean.

The court will first address the legal framework for analyzing
the advertisements for violations of the FTC Act and then will
apply that framework to the advertisements at issue. Finally, the
court will address the defendants” defense that much of the
advertising constitutes non-actionable puffery.

a. Overview of the Law

The FTC’s claims are premised on the defendants” alleged

violations of Sections 5 and 12 of the FTC Act. Section 5 of the
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FTC Act prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or
affecting commerce. 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). Section 12 addresses fTalse
advertising and provides that the dissemination of false
advertisements - defined as advertisements that are misleading iIn
a material respect - 1i1s an unfair or deceptive practice 1In
commerce. 15 U.S.C. 88 52(b) and 55. “Thus, a violation of
Section 12, dissemination of fTalse advertising, constitutes a

violation of Section 5(a).” FEIC v. QT, Inc., 448 F. Supp. 2d 908,

957 (N.D. 111. 2006).

To establish liability under Sections 5 and 12 of the FTC Act,
the FTC must prove: (1) that there was a representation; (2) that
the representation was likely to mislead customers acting

reasonably under the circumstances; and (3) that the representation
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advertisements made the claims asserted by the FTC 1iIn the
complaint. QT, Inc., 448 F. Supp. 2d at 957. The meaning of an
advertisement, the claims or net Impressions communicated to

reasonable consumers, is fundamentally a question of fact. See,

e.g., 1d. at 957-58 (citing National Bakers Services, Inc., v. FTC,

329 F.2d 365, 367 (7th Cir. 1964)). This question of fact may be
resolved by the terms of the advertisement i1tself or by evidence of
what consumers interpreted the advertisement to convey.

When assessing the meaning and representations conveyed by an
advertisement, the court must look to the advertisement’s overall,
net impression rather than the literal truth or falsity of the

words in the advertisement. FTC v. Peoples Credit First, LLC, No.

8:03-cv-2353-T-TBM, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38545, at *20-25 (M.D.
Fla. Dec. 18, 2005) (finding that an advertisement was implicitly
deceptive by looking at the net impression that i1t was likely to
make on the general public). IT the advertisement explicitly
states or clearly and conspicuously implies a claim, the court need
not look to extrinsic evidence to ascertain whether the

advertisement made the claim. See In re Thomson Med. Co., Inc.,

104 F.T.C. 648, 311-12 (1984) (noting that when an advertisement
unequivocally states a claim, “iIt 1s reasonable to interpret the
ads as intending to make [it]”); QT, Inc., 448 F. Supp. 2d at 958

(“Where implied claims are conspicuous and reasonably clear from
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the face of the advertisements, extrinsic evidence 1is not
required.”) (internal citations omitted). However, 1if the
advertisement faintly implies a claim, the court may certainly
decline from concluding that the advertisement makes such a
representation without extrinsic evidence of consumer perceptions.
As another district court noted, “implied claims fall along a
continuum from those which are so conspicuous as to be virtually
synonymous with express claims to those which are barely
discernable. It is only at the latter end of the continuum that

extrinsic evidence is necessary.” FIC v. Febre, C.A. No. 94-C-

3625, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9487, at *14-15 (N.D. 111. July 2,
1996).

In this case, the FTC has not presented any evidence of what
claims consumers perceived the advertisements to make; accordingly,
any claims that the FTC contends that the advertisements make must

be clear and conspicuous from the face of the advertisements.'?

12 Despite established case law to the contrary, the
defendants argue that the court “cannot reliably or accurately
ascertain the meaning of the advertisements.” Defs.” Resp. Br., p.

33 [Doc. No. 196]. Citing the FTC’s expert’s testimony, the
defendants contend that only the recipients of the advertising can
ascertain the content and meaning of the advertisements and the
claims which influenced their purchase decision. 1d. at pp. 32-33.

The court is not persuaded by the defendants” argument. As
the above case law Indicates, the court 1s well-equipped to discern
express claims or clear and conspicuous Implied claims from the
face of the advertisement. While evidence of consumer perceptions
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ii. Is the Representation Likely to Mislead?

To demonstrate that a claim is likely to mislead a reasonable
customer, the FTC may proceed under a “falsity theory,” a
“reasonable basis theory,” or both. T, Inc., 448 F. Supp. 2d at
957-58. IT the FTC proceeds under a fTalsity theory, 1t “must
demonstrate either that the express or implied message conveyed by

the ad i1s false.” FTC v. Natural Solutions, Inc.

is always welcomed by the court, it is only necessary when the
asserted claims fall on the “barely discernable” side of the
continuum. The court concludes that imposing a legal requirement
on the FTC to survey the exact consumer group that the defendants
solicited is both unduly burdensome and unnecessary, particularly
when the claims are apparent from the face of the advertisement.
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surprisingly, all of the unsubstantiated representations that the
FTC claims the advertisements make are related to the safety and/or
efficacy of the dietary supplements and, correspondingly, implicate
health concerns. Thus, all of the lack of reasonable basis claims
discussed In this case must be supported by “competent and reliable
scientific evidence.”

As noted i1n the discussion of the defendants” motion for
summary judgment [Doc. No. 168], the FTC has defined competent and
reliable scientific evidence as “tests, analyses, research,
studies, or other evidence based on the expertise of professionals
in the relevant area, that have been conducted and evaluated in an
objective manner by persons qualified to do so, using procedures
generally accepted in the profession to yield accurate and reliable

results.” Dietary Supplements, An Advertising Guide for the

Industry, supra, at 9. The court adopts this definition. Thus,

what constitutes competent and reliable scientific evidence in this
case 1s a question of fact for expert interpretation. 1d.

iii. Is the Representation Material?

“A representation or omission is material if i1t 1s the kind

usually relied on by a reasonably prudent person.” FTC v. Windward

Marketing, No. 1:96-cv-615, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17114, at *27

(N.D. Ga. Sept. 30, 1997); see also QT, Inc., 448 F. Supp. at 960

(““A claim 1s considered material 1f 1t involves iIinformation that is
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important to consumers and, hence, likely to affect their choice
of, or conduct regarding, a product.”) (internal citations
omitted). “Express claims, or deliberately made implied claims,
used to induce the purchase of a particular product or service are

presumptively material.” Windward Marketing, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

17114, at *28. In addition, other courts have also found claims
that “significantly involve health, safety, or other issues that
would concern reasonable customers” to be presumptively material.
QT, Inc., 448 F. Supp. 2d at 960, 965-66.1°

As noted above, all of the representations that the FTC claims
the ads make are related to health and/or safety. As a matter of
practicality, this court finds it hard to 1imagine that any
reasonable customer would find claims regarding how a product
affects his or her health or safety immaterial, but the court need
not reach that question at this juncture. For purposes of this
case, 1t is sufficient to state that when a customer makes a
decision to purchase a health product that he or she will i1ngest
for purported health benefits, any claim on the label regarding the

health benefits (i.e., any product efficacy claims) or any claims

13 As both QT, Inc. and Windward Marketing suggest, the court
may presume that some claims are material absent evidence to the
contrary. The defendants” argument that the court may not
ascertain the materiality of such claims is unavailing and
contradicted by the cited case law.
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regarding the safety of the product can be presumed material.
Thus, the court will presume that all of the asserted claims iIn
this case, 1f made, were material to the customers” purchasing
decisions.

b. Application of the Law to Product Claims and False
Endorsement Claims

The FTC asserts that the defendants” advertising violates the
FTC Act by making false and unsubstantiated claims regarding
Thermalean, Lipodrene, and Spontane-ES. The FTC also alleges that
Dr. Wright made false claims and claims without a reasonable basis
in his endorsement of Thermalean. The court will examine the
advertisements on a product-by-product basis to determine whether
the claims were made. The court will then address (1) whether the
claims are likely to mislead a reasonable consumer; and (2) whether
the claims are material.

i. Do the Advertisements Make the Claims?

(A) Thermalean Claims and Wright False
Endorsement Claims

As a basis for its allegations, the FTC attached to the complaint
a nine-page Thermalean brochure and a two-page letter “from the
desk of Dr. Mark Wright, M.D., Chief of Staff, NICWL” (“the Wright
letter”) endorsing Thermalean. [Doc. No. 1, Exs. A and B]. Based
on these advertisements, the FTC has asserted that the defendants
made the following false and deceptive claims:
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Falsity Claim 1: Thermalean i1s clinically
proven to be an effective
treatment for obesity;

Falsity Claim 2: Thermalean causes rapid and
substantial weight loss,
including as much as 30
pounds in 2 months;

Falsity Claim 3: Thermalean is clinically
proven to cause rapid and
substantial weight loss,
including as much as 30
pounds in 2 months;

Falsity Claim 4: Thermalean i1s clinically
proven to enable users to
lose 19% of their total body
weight, lose 20-35% of
abdominal fat, reduce their
overall fat by 40-70%,
decrease their stored fat by
300%, and increase their
metabolic rate by 76.9%; and

Falsity Claim 5: Thermalean is clinically
proven to inhibit the
absorption of fat, suppress
appetite, and safely increase
metabolism without dangerous
side effects.

Compl., 91 21-22 [Doc No. 1]. The FTC has also asserted that the
defendants made the following representations (““Lack of Reasonable
Basis (“LORB”) Claims”) without possessing or relying upon a

reasonable basis to substantiate the claims:

LORB Claim 1: Thermalean 1s an effective
treatment for obesity;
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LORB Claim 2: Thermalean causes rapid and
substantial weight-loss,
including as much as 30
pounds In two months;

LORB Claim 3: Thermalean causes users to
lose 19% of their total body
weight, lose 20-35% of
abdominal fat, reduce their
overall fat by 40-70%,
decrease their stored fat by
300%, and increase their
metabolic rate by 76.9%;

LORB Claim 4: Thermalean inhibits the
absorption of fat,
suppresses appetite, and
safely increases metabolism
without dangerous side
effects;

LORB Claim 5: Theramalean is equivalent or
superior to the prescription
weight loss drugs Xenical,
Meridia, and Fastin in
providing weight loss
benefits; and

LORB Claim 6: Thermalean is safe.

Id. at Y 23-24. In addition, the FTC has used the two Thermalean
advertisements as the basis for i1ts expert endorsement claims
against Dr. Wright. The FTC asserts that Dr. Wright made the

following false endorsements regarding Thermalean:

False Endorsement Thermalean is clinically
Claim 1: proven to be an effective
treatment for obesity;
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False Endorsement Thermalean is clinically

Claim 2: proven to cause rapid and
substantial weight loss,
including as much as 30
pounds In two months;

False Endorsement Thermalean is clinically

Claim 3: proven to enable users to
lose 20-35% of abdominal
fat, reduce their body fat
by 42%, decrease their
stored fat by 300%, and
increase their metabolic
rate by 76.9%; and

False Endorsement Thermalean is clinically

Claim 4: proven to inhibit the
absorption of fat, suppress
appetite, and safely
increase metabolism without
dangerous side effects.

Id. at 1Y 34-35. The FTC also claims that Dr. Wright made the

following claims without a reasonable basis:

Wright LORB Thermalean 1s an effective
Claim 1: treatment for obesity;
Wright LORB Thermalean causes rapid and
Claim 2: substantial weight loss,

including as much as 30
pounds In 2 months;

Wright LORB Thermalean causes users

Claim 3: to lose 20-35% of abdominal
fat, reduce their body fat
by 42%, decrease their
stored fat by 300%, and
increase their metabolic
rate by 76.9%;
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Wright LORB Thermalean inhibits the

Claim 4: absorption of fat,
suppresses appetite, and
safely increases metabolism
without dangerous side

effects;
Wright LORB Thermalean i1s equivalent or
Claim 5: superior to the prescription

weight loss drugs Xenical,
Meridia, and Fastin in
providing weight loss
benefits; and

Wright LORB
Claim 6: Thermalean i1s safe.

The court will analyze the advertisements for each of these
claims. Where the claims are closely linked and supported by the
same or similar evidence, the court will examine the claims in

tandem.

(1) FEalsity Claim 1, LORB Claim 1, False
Endorsement Claim 1, and Wright LORB
Claim 1

The FTC argues that the advertisements and Dr. Wright falsely

rend Fsora5[po.15 eclaeno.*s-2.3sosTim 1,refBe
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After reviewing these express statements in light of the
advertisements in full, the court is persuaded that the defendants’
advertisements, including Dr. Wright’s endorsement, clearly imply
that Thermalean is an effective treatment for obesity. However,
the court 1s not convinced that the advertisements clearly and
conspicuously imply that Thermalean is clinically proven to treat
obesity. Throughout the advertisements, the defendants heavily
imply that Thermalean is clinically proven to cause weight loss.
However, the defendants have presented evidence that the disease of
obesity is different from general weight loss; thus, the court will
not presume, without extrinsic evidence, that a recipient of these
advertisements would infer that Thermalean is clinically proven to
treat obesity from the clinical weight loss claims. Since the FTC
has presented no extrinsic evidence, the court concludes that the
advertisements do not represent that Thermalean is clinically
proven to treat obesity and thus do not make Falsity Claim 1 or
False Endorsement Claim 1.

(2) FEalsity Claims 2 and 3, LORB Claim 2,

Wright False Endorsement Claim 2 and
Wright LORB Claim 2

The FTC contends that the Thermalean advertisements and
defendant Wright as an endorser falsely and without a reasonable
basis represent that Thermalean causes rapid and substantial

weight-loss, including as much as 30 pounds in two months. In
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addition, the FTC contends that the advertisements and Wright
falsely represent that Thermalean is clinically proven to cause
rapid and substantial weight-loss, including as much as 30 pounds
in two months. The court has reviewed the advertisements, and
concludes that they, through Wright’s endorsements, make the
asserted representations. The Wright letter states, “Thermalean is
the most complete product on the market today for rapid[,]
sustainable weight loss . . . Whether you need to lose 10, 20, 100
pounds or more, Thermalean will work for you.” [Doc. No. 1, EX.
B]- Obviously, this portion of the letter expressly states that
Thermalean delivers fast, significant weight loss. However, the
court need not hang its hat on this statement alone, as the
brochure also unambiguously makes the claims at issue here. In the
“Questions for Dr. Mark Wright, M.D.” portion of the brochure, the

advertisement states:

Q: How much weight can 1 expect to lose with
Thermalean?
A: Clinical trials based on Thermalean’s

proprietary components have yielded weight
loss to nearly 15% of beginning body weight
within the first two months

Example: (to put this statistic In perspective)

Starting Date June 1
Starting Weight 200 Ibs
Weight after 60 days 170 lbs

Weight loss in 60 days 30 lbs
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[Doc. No. 1, Ex. A].-

This question and answer segment establishes that Thermalean
causes rapid, significant weight loss, and the example given
indicates that a consumer can lose up to thirty pounds in two
months. In addition, the answer i1s purportedly based on “clinical
trials,” providing support for the falsity claims at issue here.®
Although the defendants have highlighted the language regarding
“proprietary components” and argued that the clinical trials and
the results thereof were explicitly referring to the ingredients
rather than the product as a whole, the court is not persuaded by
this argument. The question part of the segment asks about the
overall Thermalean product, and the answer, though phrased as an
answer regarding the proprietary components, was clearly meant to
respond to the query regarding the benefits of the product as a
whole. The advertisement’s generic reference to “Thermalean’s

proprietary components” emphasizes not the unnamed ingredients but

15 Confusingly, the defendants” expert, Dr. Richey,
indicated in his report that study participants who were shown a
copy of the Lipodrene and Thermalean advertisements did not feel
that the marketer did a clinical test. However, iIn parentheses
beside this statement, Dr. Richey indicates that the average
participant slightly agreed with the statement, “The company who
developed this advertisement did a clinical test of this specific
branded product.” [Doc. No. 198, Ex. 7, pp- 7 and 35]. Because the
court concludes that no reasonable consumer would rely upon an
expert’s conclusion that is directly contradicted by the expert’s
own study results, the court will disregard this evidence.
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(3) Falsity Claim 4 and LORB Claim 3

The FTC asserts that the advertisements falsely convey that
Thermalean is clinically proven to enable users to lose 19% of
their total body weight, lose 20-35% of abdominal fat, reduce their
overall fat by 40-70%, decrease their stored fat by 300%, and
increase their metabolic rate by 76.9%. The FTC also asserts that
the advertisements, without a reasonable basis, represent that
Thermalean causes users to accomplish these same statistical
results.

The Thermalean brochure states,

Clinical studies show the active components 1in
Thermalean vyield the following extraordinary
results:
- Loss of 19% total body weight
- Increase metabolic rate by 76.9% without exercise
- Reduction of 40-70% overall fat under the skin
- Loss of 20-35% of abdominal fat.

[Doc. No. 1, Ex. A-2].

Similarly, the brochure also states,

In their precise ratios, the thermogenic components
used in Thermalean have achieved the Tfollowing
results iIn University-sponsored clinical trials
(all of these statistics have been reported in such
professional journals as the International Journal

of Obesity, American Journal of Clinical Nutrition,
and The New England Journal of Medicine):
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300% decrease In stored fat vs. placebo

29% greater weight loss vs. REDUX

600% increase iIn total weight loss vs. placebo
42% reduction in body fat In a specified time
period

1d. at A-3.

A quick analysis of the language above demonstrates that the
Thermalean brochure conveys the asserted claims. The brochure
unequivocally states that Thermalean’s “active components” and
“thermogenic components” enable users to lose 19% of their total
body weight, lose 20-35% of abdominal fat, reduce their overall fat
by 40-70%, decrease their stored fat by 300%, and increase their
metabolic rate by 76.9%. It also unequivocally represents that
these results are backed by clinical studies and independent,
university-sponsored clinical trials. Although the defendants go
to great lengths to establish that this express language 1is
language about the 1ingredients rather than language about the
Thermalean product, the court is not persuaded by such meaningless
distinctions. The brochure does not define these active and/or
thermogenic components by name or proportion; instead, it simply
uses these references to mysterious ingredients as synonyms for
“Thermalean.” The obvious implication from the brochure is that
Thermalean - as a whole - i1s scientifically and clinically proven
to yield the touted results; accordingly, the court concludes that

it makes the alleged claims.
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(4) Wright False Endorsement Claim 3 and
Wright LORB Claim 3

The FTC also contends that Dr. Wright, without a reasonable
basis, represents that Thermalean causes users to lose 20-35% of
abdominal fat, reduce their body fat by 42%, decrease their stored
fat by 300%, and increase their metabolic rate by 76.9%. In
addition, the FTC contends that Dr. Wright falsely represents that
Thermalean is clinically proven to cause users to achieve these
same results.

Under the “Questions for Dr. Mark Wright, M.D.” section, the
Thermalean brochure states, “Thermalean’s scientifically proven
formula has vyielded the following results iIn independent
university-sponsored trials: 42% reduction in body fat - 300%
decrease iIn stored fat - 76.9% elevation in basal metabolic rate -
20-35% reduction in abdominal fat - 600% greater fat burning
capabilities than placebo.” 1d. at A-6. This language almost
explicitly states that Thermalean causes users to achieve a 20-35%
loss of abdominal fat, a 42% reduction in total body fat, a 300%
decrease iIn stored fat, and a 76.9% iIncrease iIn metabolic rate.
Although this portion of the brochure does not specifically state
that Thermalean has been clinically proven to yield these results,
it does state that Thermalean is a scientifically proven formula

that has yielded the desired results in iIndependent university-
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sponsored trials. The court concludes that this language clearly

implies that the results were “clinically proven,” and is satisfied

that Wright made both of the asserted claims.

(5) FEalsity Claim 5, LORB Claims 4 and 5,
Wright False Endorsement Claim 4, and
Wright LORB Claims 4 and 5

The FTC claims that Dr. Wright and the advertisements falsely
represent that Thermalean 1i1s clinically proven to inhibit the
absorption of fat, suppress appetite, and safely increase
metabolism without dangerous side effects. |In addition, the FTC
claims that the advertisement and Wright, without a reasonable
basis, represent that Thermalean inhibits the absorption of fat,
suppresses appetite, and safely 1iIncreases metabolism without
dangerous side effects. Because the advertising [language
supporting these claims also supports the representation that
Thermalean is equivalent or superior to the prescription weight
loss drugs Xenical, Meridia, and Fastin in providing weight loss
benefits, all claims will be discussed together.

On the second page, the Thermalean brochure states:

The pharmaceutical drugs Xenical, Meridia, and
Fastin all address one aspect of obesity and only
one aspect:

1.) Xenical ;gi;bits the absorption of dietary

2.) Meridia Suppresses the appetite by blocking
the re-uptake of serotonin
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3.) Fastin Burns fat by Iincreasing the
metabolic rate

Each of these novel pharmaceuticals attack one
aspect of obesity, but neglect to address the other
causes of obesity.

At the National Institute for Clinical Weight Loss,
Our research and development team has developed a
non-prescription formulation that incorporates a
naturally occurring equivalent and substitute for
Meridia, Xenical, and Fastin. Thermalean is the
most complete, omni-faceted nutriceutical ever
developed for the diet industry! After four full
years of product development and feedback from
hundreds of thousands of clients, we are very proud
to announce that Thermalean is the FIRST over-the-
counter (OTC) nutriceutical to incorporate all
three aspects of obesity iInto one amazing product
called Thermalean and the results have been
extraordinary - without side effects!

[Doc. No. 1, Ex. A-2]. Similarly, Dr. Wright’s letter states,
“Thermalean i1s a pharmaceutical-grade nutriceutical containing
naturally occurring equivalents and substitutes for Sibutramine
(Meridia), Orlistat (Xenical), and Phentermine (Fastin) 1In
Thermalean”s Core Pharmaceutical Composition and Formulation.” 1d.

at Ex. B-1. A few paragraphs down, the letter goes on to state,

Thermalean”s proprietary components have been
proven to accomplish the following:

e Inhibit Lipase for obesity management by
inhibiting the absorption of dietary fats.

e Slows the rate at which the body “metabolizes’
serotonin therefore suppressing the appetite.
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upon cutting-edge scientific and clinical data. Id. These
different components, when read as a whole, create the Impression
that Thermalean was proven to accomplish the asserted functions
through clinical studies and/or trials. Moreover, the brochure
repeatedly emphasizes that Thermalean achieves clinically proven
weight loss by blocking the absorption of dietary fats, suppressing
the appetite, and iIncreasing the metabolism. This creates the
impression that Thermalean has been clinically proven to achieve
its three touted functions.

(6) LORB Claim 6 and Wright LORB Claim 6

Finally, the FTC claims that the Thermalean advertisements and
Dr. Wright represent that Thermalean is safe without adequate
substantiation. For this claim, the court need look no further

than the express language of the advertisements. For example, the
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(B) Lipodrene Claims

The FTC attached three Lipodrene advertisements as exhibits to
the complaint. The first exhibit i1s a one-page advertisement
placed in Cosmopolitan Magazine that states - in large, underlined
letters across the top - “Clinically PROVEN Weight Loss.” [Doc.
No. 1, Ex. C]. The second exhibit is a more detailed, two-page
direct mail iInsert prepared on Warner Laboratories letterhead that
provides an overview of Lipodrene’s Phase 1 Review and announces
the launch of Phase Il1. 1d. at Ex. D. The third exhibit attached
to the complaint is a one-page print of an internet web page. 1d.
at Ex. E. 1t clearly refers to Lipodrene, and states in prominent
print, “Clinically PROVEN to be SAFE AND EFFECTIVE!” 1d.

Based on the these advertisements, the FTC contends that the

defendants made the following false claims:

Falsity Claim 1: Lipodrene causes substantial
weight loss, including as
much as 125 pounds;

Falsity Claim 2: Lipodrene is clinically
proven to enable users to
lose up to 42% of total body
fat and 19% of total body
weight, and to increase
their metabolic rate by up
to 50%;

Falsity Claim 3: Lipodrene is clinically
proven to be safe; and
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Falsity Claim 4: Lipodrene is clinically
proven to cause virtually no
side effects.

[Doc. No. 1, 19 25-26]. |In addition, the FTC also argues that the
defendants made the following representations regarding Lipodrene

without adequate substantiation:

LORB Claim 1: Lipodrene causes substantial
weight loss, including as
much as 125 pounds;

LORB Claim 2: Lipodrene enables users to
lose up to 42% of total body
fat and 19% of total body
weight, and to increase
their metabolic rate by up
to 50%; and

LORB Claim 3: Lipodrene is safe.

1d. at T 25-26. Each of these claims will be discussed below.

(1) FEalsity Claim 1 and LORB Claim 1

The FTC claims that the Lipodrene advertisements falsely and
without a reasonable basis represent that Lipodrene causes
substantial weight loss, including as much as 125 pounds. The
court has reviewed the advertisements and concludes that the first
advertisement does make the asserted representation. First, the
advertisement clearly represents that Lipodrene causes substantial
weight loss. Directly beneath the “Clinically PROVEN Weight Loss!”
banner at the top of the page, the ad states: “Lose up to 42% of

your total body fat! Lose up to 19% of your total body weight!”
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[Doc. No. 1, Ex. C]. Underneath this segment, the ad touts an
overall 88% success rate. Id. The court concludes that, when read
together, this ad suggests that Lipodrene is a tried and tested way
to lose substantial weight - even up to 19% of one’s total body
weight. However, the advertisement does not stop with these
assertions. The ad, i1in a section “from Dr. Mark Wright, M.D. -

Medical Director for Warner Laboratories,” states, “Lipodrene is a
product you simply MUST TRY if you are having trouble losing weight
- whether your weight loss goals involve 5 Ibs, 25 Ibs, or even 125
Ibs.” 1d. This statement from a doctor clearly implies that
Lipodrene can help patients meet their weight loss goals - even if
that goal is 125 pounds. Accordingly, the court finds that the

advertisement makes the asserted representation.®

(2) FEalsity Claim 2 and LORB Claim 2

The FTC contends that the Lipodrene advertisements falsely
represent that Lipodrene is clinically proven to enable users to
lose up to 42% of their total body fat and 19% of their total body
weight and to increase their metabolic rate by up to 50%. In

addition, the FTC contends that the Lipodrene advertisements,

18 The other two advertisements do not contain any language
specifying 125 pounds, but they do expressly claim that Lipodrene
causes significant weight loss. Each of the advertisements note
that Lipodrene can reduce a consumer’s total body fat by 42% and
total body weight by 19%. Thus, this court finds that t